IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Supreme Court Case No. S275940

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent

 \mathbf{v} .

WELDON K. McDAVID, JR.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal Fourth District Division One Case No. D078919

San Diego County Superior Court Case Number SCN363925

APPEAL FROM THE SAN DIEGO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

The Honorable Sim von Kalinowski, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Raymond M. DiGuiseppe State Bar Number 228457 Post Office Box 10790 Southport, North Carolina 28461

Phone: (910) 713-8804

Email: diguiseppe228457@gmail.com

Issue Presented

Does the trial court have discretion to strike a firearm enhancement imposed pursuant to Penal Code section 12022.53 and instead impose a lesser uncharged firearm enhancement pursuant to a different statute (Pen. Code, § 12022.5)?²

Introduction

Over the last several years, the Legislature has been making a concerted effort to reverse the effects of the failed legislative priorities that ratcheted up prison sentences through a scheme of sentencing enhancements whose unduly prejudicial impacts have come to light after further research and study. Senate Bill No. 620 ("SB 620"), which became effective January 1, 2018, is a major part of this reformation process, as it attempts to tackle some of the most severe and prolific enhancements—those that ratchet up the sentence based on firearms-related conduct. As the lawmakers observed, "[o]ften the enhancement for gun use is longer than the sentence for the crime itself." (Assem. Com. on Public Safety, Comments on SB 620, June 13, 2017, § 3.) This is fundamentally unfair to the accused and overly burdensome on the system, because the effect is to "disproportionately increase racial disparities in prison populations" and "greatly increase the population of incarcerated persons," and it's ultimately

Statutory citations are to the Penal Code.

See California Supreme Court Case Information, Pending Issues Summary (https://supreme.courts.ca.gov/case-information/pending-issues-summary).

unjustified because "[l]onger sentences do not deter crime or protect public safety according to research on these laws." (Assem. Com. on Public Safety, SB 620, Unfinished Business.)

The Legislature's solution was to "provide[] judges the ability to impose sentences that fit the severity of the offense," so that the sentencing process involves an individualized assessment of the extent to which, if any, a defendant's conduct may warrant punishment over and above the sentence already imposed for the crime. (Assem. Com. on Public Safety, SB 620) (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.), June 13, 2017, Author's Statement, p. 8.) To that end, through SB 620, the Legislature equipped trial courts with discretion to "strike or dismiss" firearm-use sentencing enhancements, including the severest of such penalties under section 12022.53, "in the interest of justice pursuant to Section 1385" at the time of sentencing. After this Court's decision in *People v. Tirado* (2022) 12 Cal.5th 688 (Tirado), there can be no dispute that this discretion at the least permits a court to strike or dismiss the greatest of these enhancements arising under subdivision (d) of section 12022.53 and to impose no additional punishment at all or to substitute one of the lesser enhancements under subdivisions (b) or (c).

Numerous defendants like McDavid saddled with one or more of the enhancements under section 12022.53 still wait for resolution of the question whether this authority extends to substituting uncharged lesser enhancements within *other* sections of this statutory scheme, such as section 12022.5. An analysis of all the factors relevant to resolving this issue compels

one conclusion: when a trial court exercises its broad discretion to strike or dismiss a section 12022.53 enhancement, the Legislature has indeed authorized the imposition of any uncharged lesser enhancement supported by the facts found true or admitted in connection with the greater enhancement.

To read the statutory scheme any other way would yield anomalous results, including, for example, that courts would be left with a binary choice between imposing an additional 10 years or no punishment at all for any enhancement found true or admitted under subdivision (b) of section 12022.53. The statutory interpretation advanced by the Attorney General and adopted by the majority of the Court of Appeal in this case would do just that and therefore it must be rejected in favor of the interpretation articulated above, which effectuates the manifest purpose of the statutory scheme based on its plain language, the legislative history, the canons of construction, and *Tirado* itself.

Statement of the Case and Facts³

Based on an incident occurring in September of 2016, McDavid was tried and convicted by a jury in November of 2017 of conspiracy to commit murder (§182, subd. (a)(1)) and premeditated attempted murder (§§ 664/187, subd. (a), 189), with sentencing enhancement allegations that he personally and intentionally discharged a firearm causing great bodily injury or

As the Court of Appeal did for purposes of its opinion here (Slip Opn. at p. 3, fn. 4), McDavid incorporates by reference the factual summation of the evidence set forth in the opinion in the related appeal of *People v. Lovejoy* (Case No. D073477).

death (§§ 12022.53, subd. (d), 12022.7, subd. (a)). (1CT 102-104.) In January of 2018, the court sentenced McDavid to a term of 25 years to life for the conspiracy and a consecutive term of 25 years to life for the enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (d). (1CT 111-112.) The court imposed but stayed pursuant to section 654 a term of 25 years to life for the attempted murder, another such consecutive term for the related enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (d), and a three-year term for the enhancement under section 12022.7. (1CT 111-112.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the convictions on direct appeal (Case No. D073477), but it remanded the case for resentencing in light of the newly enacted discretion of trial courts to strike or dismiss enhancements under section 12022.53, subdivision (h), as amended by SB 620. On April 30, 2021, the trial court declined to exercise its discretion to strike or dismiss the section 12022.53 enhancements in this case and imposed the same sentence. (1CT 121-122.) McDavid timely appealed. (1CT 100.) While the appeal was pending, the Court issued its opinion in *Tirado* concerning the scope of a court's sentencing discretion under amended subdivision (h). After a round of supplemental briefing from the parties concerning the impact of SB 620 on the resolution of the case, the Court of Appeal held, "we agree with McDavid's argument that, under the reasoning of *Tirado*, the trial court has the discretion on remand to strike the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancements and instead impose lesser included uncharged enhancements including, but not limited to, section 12022.53, subdivision (b) or (c) enhancements, if the factual elements for those lesser included enhancements were alleged in the information and found true by the jury (e.g., § 12022.5, subd. (a) enhancements)." (*People v. McDavid* (2022) 293 Cal.Rptr.3d 7, *16, previously published at 77 Cal.App.5th 763.)

The Attorney General petitioned for a rehearing, which McDavid opposed. A majority of the Court of Appeal granted the petition and vacated its prior opinion, rejecting McDavid's argument that "the trial court has discretion to strike the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancements and instead impose any lesser included enhancements if the elements of those enhancements have been found true by the trier of fact (e.g., § 12022.5, subd. (a) enhancement or § 12022.53, subd. (b) or (c) enhancement)." (Slip Opn. at p. 3.) The majority now reasoned that the trial court's discretion was limited to "strik[ing] one or both of the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancements alleged against McDavid and found true by the jury and then either: (1) not impos[ing] any section 12022.53 enhancement; or (2) impos[ing] one, or two, lesser, uncharged section 12022.53 enhancements (i.e., § 12022.53, subd. (b) or (c))." (Slip Opn. at p. 16.) The rationale for this holding was that "section 12022.53, subdivision (j) provides that if a section 12022.53 enhancement has been alleged and found true by a trier of fact, a trial court may impose only an enhancement under section 12022.53 (i.e., § 12022.53, subd. (b), (c), or (d)) and not an enhancement under any other statute (e.g., § 12022.5, subd. (a))." (*Ibid.*)

Justice Dato dissented, asserting "[n]othing has changed in the intervening three months that casts doubt on our original conclusion," as it was still just as much the case that subdivision (j) does not "intercede[] to prohibit imposing any lesser included enhancement other than those in section 12022.53 itself" when the court invokes its discretion to strike or dismiss the enhancement found true or admitted under section 12022.53. (Slip Opn., dis. opn. of Dato, J. at p. 1.) Justice Dato contended that once the section 12022.53 has been stricken or dismissed pursuant to subdivision (h) as amended by SB 620, "the part of subdivision (j) that states 'the court shall impose punishment for that enhancement pursuant to this section' cannot apply" since the enhancement "no longer has any effect." (*Id.* at p. 4.)

This Court granted McDavid's petition for review.

Argument

I. The Legislature has authorized courts to strike or dismiss a section 12022.53 and either impose no additional punishment for the firearms-related conduct or to impose any factually supported uncharged lesser enhancement that "fits the severity of the crime."

As will appear, the plain-meaning construction of the statutory scheme speaks for itself in demonstrating that a trial court's discretion to impose an uncharged lesser enhancement in substitution for a greater enhancement under section 12022.53 extends to lesser enhancements within this same statutory scheme yet outside the four corners of section 12022.53. And everything else relevant to resolving this question concerning the scope of a court's authority here compels the same conclusion.

A. General sentencing powers and duties of trial courts

While "it is the prosecution that determines what charges should be brought and against whom" and that authority "includes the power to charge specific enhancements and seek the maximum available term," "once those decisions have been made and the proceedings have begun, 'the process which leads to acquittal or to sentencing is fundamentally judicial in nature.' [Citation]." (*Tirado*, *supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 702.) "The prosecution cannot control the court's authority to select from the *legislatively authorized* sentencing options." (*Ibid.*, italics original.) The court's selection among those options is an exercise of its discretion, and that decision is "subject to review for abuse of discretion." (*People v. Sandoval* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 825, 847.)

A defendant is entitled to an exercise of "informed discretion"—i.e., the trial court must know and understand the legislatively authorized sentencing options. "A court acting while unaware of the scope of its discretion is understood to have abused it." (*Tirado*, *supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 694; accord *Nazir v*. *Superior Court* (2022) 79 Cal.App.5th 478, 490 ["a court abuses its discretion when it misunderstands the scope of that discretion"].) Thus, whether a particular sentence is within a trial court's discretionary power to impose "depends on the scope of that discretion." (*Tirado* at p. 694.) That turns on "the legal principles and policies that should [] guide[] the court's actions." (*Nazir* at p. 490.) And that is a question of statutory interpretation reviewed de novo. (*Tirado* at p. 490.)

B. General principles of statutory interpretation

"As in any case involving statutory interpretation, our fundamental task here is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose." (People v. Gonzalez (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1138, 1141, internal quotation marks omitted.) "Because the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of that intent, we look first at the words themselves, giving them their usual and ordinary meaning and construing them in context." (People v. Johnson (2002) 28 Cal.4th 240, 244.) "[W]e consider the language of the entire scheme and related statutes, harmonizing the terms when possible." (Gonzalez, at p. 1141, internal quotation marks omitted). "If the plain language of the statute is clear and unambiguous, our inquiry ends, and we need not embark on judicial construction." (Johnson, at p. 244.)

However, the plain meaning rule is subject to important limitations: "[A]lthough the words used by the Legislature are the most useful guide to its intent, we do not view the language of the statute in isolation." (People v. Camacho (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 998, 1007, internal quotation marks omitted.) "We will not follow the plain meaning of the statute when to do so would frustrate[] the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole or [lead] to absurd results." (Ibid., internal quotation marks omitted.) "Instead, we will interpret legislation reasonably and . . . attempt to give effect to the apparent purpose of the statute." (Ibid., internal quotation marks omitted.) To that end, "[i]t is incumbent upon courts to harmonize statutes based on their texts, if that can reasonably be done." (People v. Superior Court of Riverside County (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 851, 863.)

Thus, "[t]he words of the statute must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible." (People v. Valencia (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347, 357-358, internal quotation marks omitted.) Harmonizing statutes internally and externally means that, "when reasonably possible," the court is required to "reconcile seeming inconsistencies in them, and construe them to give force and effect to all of their provisions; the statutes 'must be regarded as blending into each other and forming a single statute'; and 'read together and so construed as to give effect, when possible, to all the provisions' of each statute." (Superior Court of Riverside County, supra, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 863, quoting State Dept. of Public Health v. Superior Court (2015) 60 Cal.4th 940, 955.)

"If the language is reasonably susceptible of more than one meaning, however, we may examine extrinsic aids such as the apparent purpose of the statute, the legislative history, the canons of statutory construction, and public policy." (*Tan v. Superior Court of Mateo County* (2022) 76 Cal.App.5th 130, 136.) In a similar vein, if the statutory provisions at issue cannot be harmonized because they are irreconcilably conflicting, courts may employ "specific-over-general and recent-over-earlier" rules as canons of construction (*Moreno v. Bassi* (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 244, 256)—i.e., "more specific provisions take precedence over more general ones" and "later enactments supersede earlier ones" (*Hopkins v. Superior Court* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 1275,

1283, quoting State Dept. of Public Health, supra, 60 Cal.4th at pp. 960). However, "when these two rules are in conflict, the rule that specific provisions take precedence over more general ones trumps the rule that later-enacted statutes have precedence." (Hopkins at p. 1283, quoting State Dept. of Public Health at p. 960.) And both of these rules are subordinate to the court's paramount duty to harmonize the statutory provisions to the greatest extent possible, because such rules "apply only when harmonization is not possible." (Tan, at pp. 142-143, citing State Dept. of Public Health at p. 960 [explaining that these rules apply only "[i]f conflicting statutes cannot be reconciled"].)

In all events, effectuating the legislative intent is the fundamental goal: "canons of statutory construction are merely aids to ascertaining" such intent and "are not to be 'applied so as to defeat the underlying legislative intent otherwise determined." (Superior Court of Riverside County, supra, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 862, quoting Ferra v. Loews Hollywood Hotel, LLC (2021) 11 Cal.5th 858, 879.) "Thus, when the legislat[ive] history answers the question of legislative intent, or at least provides clues to legislative intent, the legislative history is a more reliable indicator of the legislative intent than inferences of intent based on canons of statutory construction." (Id. at p. 862.)

C. The plain-meaning construction of the statutory scheme is clear in establishing the broad discretion of trial courts under section 12022.53 to impose enhancements that fit the severity of the crime.

With this framework in mind, we turn to the question at hand—whether a trial court has discretion to strike a firearm-related enhancement imposed under section 12022.53 and substitute a lesser uncharged firearm enhancement under a different statute, such as a firearm-related enhancement under section 12022.5—and conduct this inquiry based on the language of the statutory scheme and the interpretative principles courts must apply in construing the language "to effectuate the law's purpose." (*People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1141.)

We start with the language of section 12022.53, giving the words "their usual and ordinary meaning" (Johnson, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 244), yet viewing them in context "with the entire scheme and related statutes" (Gonzalez, supra, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1141), and harmonizing them "both internally and with each other, to the extent possible" (Valencia, supra, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 357-358), while avoiding interpretations that produce "absurd results" or "frustrate [] the manifest purposes of the legislation as a whole" (Camacho, supra, 32 Cal.App.5th at p. 1007).

1. The statutory scheme

Section 12022.53 falls within a statutory scheme of sentencing enhancements related to the use or possession of a firearm in connection with the commission or attempted commission of certain criminal offenses, all of which fall under the same Part and Title of the Penal Code – Part 4, Title 2. It's clear from the face of the scheme that these sentencing enhancements are all designed to serve the same general purpose of creating aggravated penalties for the commission or attempted commission of a crime during which the perpetrator is armed with or uses a firearm, or participated while knowing another principal is armed with or uses a firearm. The various enhancements work together to essentially establish a hierarchy of penalties based on the nature of the offense.

Section 12022.53 sits atop of this hierarchy, doling out the severest schedule of penalties for firearms-related conduct in connection with the most serious forms of assaultive offenses criminalized in the Penal Code (e.g., murder, rape, robbery, kidnapping, sex offenses against children, etc.), or any attempt to commit such an offense in connection with firearms-related conduct: 10 years for the personal use of a firearm, 20 years for the personal and intentional discharge of a firearm and 25 years to life for the personal and intentional discharge of a firearm causing great bodily injury or death. (§ 12022.53, subds. (b)-(d).)⁴

Next in order of this hierarchy is section 12022.5, which more broadly applies to the personal use of a firearm in the commission or attempted commission of a felony offense—i.e., any felony—generally mandating an additional and consecutive term of 3, 4, or 10 years (5, 6, or 10 years if the arm is an "assault weapon" or "machinegun"). (§ 12022.5, subds. (a) & (b).) Below

To promote consistency and simplicity where appropriate based on the context, McDavid sometimes uses the numerical form when stating the length of the prison terms in this scheme.

that in order of severity, section 12022.3 applies to a series of sex crimes—wider in scope than the sex crimes to which section 12022.53 applies—and generally mandates an enhancement of 3, 4, or 10 years for the personal use of a firearm or a deadly weapon, and 1, 2, or 5 years for being personally armed with such a weapon, during the commission of such an offense. (§ 12022.3, subds. (a) & (b).) Section 12022.4 in turn applies to the commission or attempted commission of any felony in which a person "furnishes or offers to furnish a firearm to another for the purpose of aiding, abetting, or enabling that person or any other person to commit" that felony offense, and calls for an additional consecutive term of 1, 2, or 3 years. (§ 12022.4, subd. (a).)

Last in this scheme is section 12022, which establishes the least severe schedule of penalties but casts the widest net. It applies to the commission or attempted commission of any felony during which a person is *either* personally armed with a firearm or "a principal" in the commission or attempted commission of a felony, and it applies to the commission or attempted commission of any felony in which a person is personally armed with any "deadly or dangerous weapon." (§ 12022, subds. (a)-(b).) The provision generally imposes a one-year enhancement in such cases. An increased penalty schedule of 1, 2, or 3 years applies when the perpetrator, though not personally armed, participates knowing another principal is personally armed, or when the crime involves a carjacking (§ 12022, subds. (b)(2) & (d)), and the schedule is further aggravated to 3, 4, or 5 years when the crime involves certain specified drug offenses (§ 12022, subds. (c)).

Certain provisions within this scheme grant forms of judicial discretion, which empower the sentencing judge to eliminate or reduce the impact of the enhancements that would otherwise apply. Some of those provisions have been amended over time, and some of those amendments are significant to resolving the statutory construction issues in this case.

Section 12022 provides (as it has since January 1, 2014): "Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the court may strike the additional punishment for the enhancements provided in subdivision (c) or (d) [the drug-related offenses] in an unusual case where the interests of justice would best be served, if the court specifies on the record and enters into the minutes the circumstances indicating that the interests of justice would best be served by that disposition." (§ 12022, subd. (f).)

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