No. S275940

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

WELDON K. MCDAVID, JR.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D078919 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCN363925 The Honorable Sim Von Kalinowski, Judge

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

To be sure, Senate Bill No. 620 was animated by a legislative intent to grant trial courts the power to impose lighter sentences where appropriate by striking or dismissing section 12022.53 enhancements. As this Court held in *Tirado*, because section 12022.53, subdivision (j) authorizes the imposition of a lesser, uncharged section 12022.53 enhancement necessarily encompassed by a greater enhancement from that section that has been alleged and found true, the sentencing court may impose the lesser enhancement in place of the greater one. (*Tirado, supra*, 12 Cal.5th at pp. 700-701.) This accords with the Legislative intent undergirding Senate Bill No. 620 because it affords the courts the "flexibility to impose lighter sentences in appropriate circumstances," while ensuring that "more severe terms of imprisonment with the harshest applicable sentence remain[] the default punishment." (*Id.* at pp. 701-702.) And as appellant notes, other recently-enacted legislation evinces a more general trend toward increased sentencing flexibility and amelioration of punishments. (See, e.g., Senate Bill No. 81 (Stats. 2021, c. 721, § 1, eff. Jan. 1, 2022); Assembly Bill No. 2167 (Stats. 2022, c. 775, § 2, eff. Jan. 1, 2023).)

But while the Legislature undoubtedly intended to confer additional sentencing flexibility by amending section 12022.53, subdivision (h), there is little to suggest the Legislature intended to grant courts the specific discretion to impose in place of a section 12022.53 enhancement a lesser enhancement from a different statute, in contravention of the statutory language that it chose not to amend. In other words, it is not clear that the Legislature intended, as appellant contends, to give courts "maximum flexibility" to pick any lesser enhancement from "the entire scheme of related firearm enhancements in Part 4, Title 2" in place of a stricken section 12022.53 enhancement. (OBM 34-35, 45-46.) The fact that Senate Bill No. 620 "sought to give trial

courts some more options does not mean it was intended to give courts unlimited options." (*Lewis, supra*, 86 Cal.App.5th at p. 42.) After all, "no legislation pursues its purposes at all costs."" (*In re Friend* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 720, 740 ["Deciding what competing values will or will not be sacrificed to the achievement of a particular objective is the very essence of legislative choice and it frustrates rather than effectuates legislative intent simplistically to assume that *whatever* furthers the statute's primary objective must be the law"], quoting *Rodriguez v. United States* (1987) 480 U.S. 522, 525-526.)

In a similar vein, appellant contends that it would be unreasonable to limit sentencing courts to the binary choice of striking a section 12022.53 enhancement in its entirety or imposing a section 12022.53, subdivision (b), (c), or (d) enhancement. (OBM 56.) The Legislature, however, could have made a reasonable choice to restrict trial courts to the punishments listed in section 12022.53 upon a true finding on a section 12022.53 enhancement allegation. Section 12022.53 has limited application, as it applies only to the 16 dangerous felonies listed in subdivision (a), attempts to commit one of those 16 felonies, or felonies punishable by death or imprisonment for life. By limiting the enhancements in section 12022.53 to gun use or discharge during the commission of the crimes identified in subdivision (a), the Legislature has determined that section 12022.53's terms are proportionate to the seriousness of the offense. (Accord, § 1170, subd. (a)(1) [stating that "when a sentence includes incarceration," public safety "is best served by

terms that are *proportionate to the seriousness* of the offense with *provision for uniformity* in the sentences of offenders committing the same offense under similar circumstances"].)

The Legislature could also have concluded that the sentencing options available to a court in light of section 12022.53, subdivision (j) are sufficiently varied to fulfill its goal of increased sentencing flexibility. For example, if the court in appellant's case decides to strike the punishment for one of appellant's section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancements (which provide for terms of 25 years to life), it would have the choice to impose a 20-year enhancement under subdivision (c), a 10-year enhancement under subdivision (b), or no additional punishment at all, either by striking the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) enhancement in its entirety, or by striking the punishment for it and declining to impose a lesser section 12022.53 punishment in its place.

That level of flexibility would satisfy Senate Bill No. 620's legislative intent to retain the core characteristics of section 12022.53 because the "harshest applicable sentence remain[s] the default punishment," but courts are "granted the flexibility to impose lighter sentences" to deserving defendants by striking the additional term for an enhancement that prior to Senate Bill No. 620, had to be imposed, regardless of whether the court felt the defendant deserved a lighter sentence. (See *Tirado, supra*, 12 Cal.5th at pp. 701-702.) Conversely, if trial courts were free to impose a lesser enhancement from a different statute, section 12022.53 would cease to be the "default punishment" for the use

or discharge of a firearm in the circumstances specified in section 12022.53. (*Ibid.*) This would appear to conflict with the Legislature's intent to retain section 12022.53's primacy as a "core characteristic[] of the sentencing scheme." (*Id.* at p. 701.) At the least, subdivision (j)'s continued prohibition against substituting a lesser, uncharged enhancement from a different statute does not appear to be so contrary to the legislative intent underlying Senate Bill No. 620 that it would support the conclusion that the Legislature necessarily intended to implicitly nullify that portion of the statute.

#### 2. Subdivision (f)

Appellant argues that the amendment to section 12022.53, subdivision (h) rendered a portion of subdivision (f) of the statute inoperative, and so there should be no barrier to interpreting subdivision (h) the same way with respect to subdivision (j). (OBM 30-32, 54.) There is no part of subdivision (f), however, that is parallel to subdivision (j)'s restriction on substituting an enhancement outside of section 12022.53. That provision, unlike the portion of subdivision (f) that appellant points to, can be harmonized with subdivision (h).

As appellant observes, under the new dismissal authority conferred by subdivision (h), a court need not abide by subdivision (f)'s requirement to "impose upon that person the enhancement that provides the longest term of imprisonment." That portion of subdivision (f) is no longer operative simply as a necessary consequence of the directly-conflicting amendment to subdivision (h). There is no alternative way to interpret that

portion of subdivision (f) so that it might retain any effect after the amendment to subdivision (h).<sup>11</sup>

But the same is not true of the portion of subdivision (j) that prohibits substitution of an enhancement outside of section 12022.53. That prohibition may be interpreted together with subdivision (h) in a way that does not render it inoperative. Thus, while subdivision (f) must be interpreted as partially inoperative for lack of any plausible alternative, that is not necessarily true as to subdivision (j). Rather, the question as to subdivision (j) is whether a construction that would render a part of it inoperative should be adopted over another available construction that would preserve that part of the statute.

To be sure, that a part of subdivision (f) has been rendered inoperative suggests that the Legislature may have anticipated that its amendment to subdivision (h) would have the same effect on other parts of section 12022.53. Nonetheless, it does not necessarily indicate that the Legislature so intended with respect to subdivision (j)'s prohibition against the substitution of a lesser, uncharged enhancement outside of section 12022.53.<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Insofar as a court declines to strike a section 12022.53 enhancement, then the remaining parts of subdivision (f), which prohibit the imposition of other firearm or great bodily injury enhancements in addition to the section 12022.53 enhancement, would remain operative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Appellant similarly argues that the Court of Appeal's interpretation of section 12022.53 "reads the second sentence of subdivision (j) in two different directions." (OBM 53.) On the one hand, he contends, the instruction that a court "shall impose" punishment under section 12022.53 is no longer applicable; while (continued...)

### 3. Tirado and Fialho

Appellant argues that this Court's opinion in *Tirado* compels an interpretation of section 12022.53 that allows for the imposition of a lesser enhancement from another statute. (OBM 38-42, 46-50.) *Tirado* reasoned that courts are generally empowered to substitute an uncharged enhancement for a charged enhancement so long as the facts supporting the uncharged enhancement have been alleged and found true. (*Tirado*, *supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 697.) And it held that the general rule applies to section 12022.53 because subdivision (j) of that statute requires the facts supporting the enhancement to be alleged and found true, thus providing support for any uncharged lesser enhancement under the same statute. (*Id*. at p. 700.)

The People acknowledge that, but for the limiting language in section 12022.53, subdivision (j), the principles discussed in

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

on the other the prohibition against imposing a lesser, uncharged enhancement under a different section would be given effect. (OBM 53.) To the extent it is possible to read the "shall impose" portion of subdivision (j) in isolation, it is true that this part of subdivision (j) is inoperative since a court is no longer required under subdivision (h) to impose the section 12022.53 enhancement. But again, that is because there is no other plausible interpretation that would preserve its operation in the face of subdivision (h)'s clear command. Because the portion of subdivision (j) that prohibits substitution of an enhancement from a different section may be interpreted in a way that harmonizes with subdivision (h) and preserves its operation, that portion presents a different question of statutory construction. This is not inconsistent with the fact that other portions of the statute may be rendered inoperative by amended subdivision (h).

*Tirado* would support imposition of an uncharged enhancement even under a different statute, so long as the section 12022.53 finding encompassed the facts necessary to support the uncharged enhancement. Tirado had no occasion, however, to address section 12022.53, subdivision (j)'s prohibition on the imposition of a lesser enhancement from a different statute, since the lesser enhancements at issue there were themselves section 12022.53 enhancements. (See Lewis, supra, 86 Cal.App.5th at p. 41 [giving effect to section 12022.53, subdivision (j) "does not run afoul of *Tirado*, which did not address 'whether trial courts have discretion to strike a section 12022.53(b) enhancement and substitute an uncharged, section 12022.5(a) enhancement"], citation omitted.) Indeed, in *Tirado*, this Court recognized that the legislature could have drafted a statute that limited the court's ability to impose a subdivision (b) or (c) enhancement once it struck a subdivision (d) enhancement, but it concluded that nothing in section 12022.53's language restricted a court in that way. (*Tirado, supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 699.) As relevant in this case, on the other hand, subdivision (j)'s language does contain a prohibition on the imposition of a lesser enhancement outside of section 12022.53 itself.

Appellant additionally relies on *People v. Fialho* (2014) 229 Cal.App.4th 1389, which this Court discussed in *Tirado* (see 12 Cal.5th at pp. 698-699). (OBM 42-43, 49.) In *Fialho*, the jury rendered a true finding on a section 12022.53 enhancement—but, as it turned out, not in connection with any offense listed in section 12022.53. (*Fialho*, at pp. 1391-1393, 1395.) Thus, the

section 12022.53 enhancement found true in that case could not be validly imposed. (*Id.* at p. 1395.) Nevertheless, because the jury's true finding on the section 12022.53 enhancement included all necessary facts to impose an enhancement under section 12022.5, subdivision (a), the trial court imposed a 10-year enhancement pursuant to that section. (*Id.* at p. 1394.)

On appeal, the defendant contended that the section 12022.5, subdivision (a) enhancement was improper because it had not been alleged in the information or found true by the jury. (*Fialho, supra,* 229 Cal.App.4th at p. 1392.) The *Fialho* court rejected the argument, concluding that the section 12022.53 enhancement allegation put the defendant on notice of any lesser enhancements necessarily included within it, including the section 12022.5 enhancement at issue. (*Id.* at p. 1397.) Because of that, and because substantial evidence supported the imposition of the section 12022.5, subdivision (a) enhancement, the court concluded that the substitution was legally permissible. (*Id.* at pp. 1397-1398.)

Like *Tirado*, *Fialho* did not address the limiting language in subdivision (j), which was not at issue there. Rather, in *Fialho*, no enhancement under section 12022.53 could lawfully be imposed and therefore none of the statutory provisions regarding the court's imposition of an enhancement under that section were relevant. (See *Lewis*, *supra*, 86 Cal.App.5th at p. 41, fn. 8.) As this Court noted in *Tirado*, the general rule permitting imposition of a lesser section 12022.53 enhancement in place of a greater enhancement from that statute "only applies when a true

finding under section 12022.53(d) necessarily includes a true finding under section 12022.53(b) or (c)," which "would not be the case" where the underlying offense is not one "specified in subdivision (a),' as required for imposition of an enhancement under section 12022.53(b) or (c)." (*Tirado, supra*, 12 Cal.5th at p. 700, fn. 12; quoting § 12022.53, subds. (b), (c).)

This Court's decision in *Tirado* discussed *Fialho* in connection with the principle that "imposition of an uncharged enhancement is permitted so long as the facts supporting its imposition are alleged and found true." (*Tirado, supra,* 12 Cal.5th at p. 699.) But because neither case addressed the limiting language in subdivision (j) that is at issue here—or had any reason to do so—those decisions do not provide a rationale for adopting appellant's construction of section 12022.53 notwithstanding that it would render that limiting language inoperative. (See *People v. Baker* (2021) 10 Cal.5th 1044, 1049 ["Cases are not authority for propositions not considered"].)<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The same is true of the other cases appellant relies on. (See OBM 40-42.) *People v. Strickland* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 946, *People v. Allen* (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 616, and *People v. Lucas* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 721, did not concern section 12022.53, but section 12022.5, and they therefore did not implicate section 12022.53, subdivision (j) and its prohibition on the imposition of a lesser enhancement from a different statute. *People v. Dixon* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 985, involved a section 12022.53 enhancement allegation, but, as in *Fialho*, there was no section 12022.53 enhancement that could be validly applied in the first place, as the prosecution had failed to prove that the weapon involved was a "firearm" necessary for section 12022.53 (and, consequently, its subdivision (j)) to apply. (*Dixon*, at p. 1001.)

#### 4. Other canons of construction

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